SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-1907 L.T. CASE NO. 2D04-2719

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

JENNIFER CERASANI

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR COMPANY, INC.

CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. 4000 Bank of America Tower 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 530-0050 Facsimile: (305) 530-0055 By: WENDY F. LUMISH Florida Bar No. 334332 JOHN R. BLUE Florida Bar No. 6999 MATTHEW J. CONIGLIARO Florida Bar No. 63525

Counsel for Petitioner American Honda Motor Company, Inc.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the Court on a certified conflict with the First District's decision in <u>Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc.</u>, 526 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). The issue is whether a lessee can bring an action under the Magnuson-Moss Warranty – Federal Trade Commission Improvement Act, 15 U.S.C. §2301, et seq., ("Magnuson-Moss Act" or "the Act"). In <u>Sellers</u>, the First District found that the Magnuson-Moss Act applies to goods initially sold to a buyer and does not apply to an automobile that has simply been leased. 526 So. 2d at 156. In this case, the Second District found that the Plaintiff/Lessee Jennifer Cerasani pled sufficient facts to demonstrate that, even though she was a lessee, she was entitled to pursue a Magnuson-Moss Act claim. American Honda Motor Company ("Honda") petitions this Court to reinstate the trial court's decision, approve <u>Sellers</u>, and reverse the decision below.

Cerasani leased a new Honda Civic manufactured by Honda. R. 1:86 at Ex. A; Pet. App. 3 ("the Lease")¹. Although the lease designates Crown Honda as the lessor and Cerasani as the lessee, Cerasani asserts that Crown Honda sold the vehicle to a leasing institution, "Honda Leasing,"² which in turn leased the vehicle

¹ References to the record on appeal will be in the form "R. [volume]: [page]." References to Petitioner's appendix will be in the form "Pet. App. [tab]" or "Pet. App. [tab]:[page]."

² Honda places the name "Honda Leasing" in quotes because Honda is unaware of any entity by that name.

to her. R. 1:86 at ¶¶ 3, 5-7, Ex. A, at 1; Pet. App. 2. The vehicle was covered by Honda's standard New Vehicle Warranty and the Lease assigned all rights in the warranty to Cerasani. R. 1:86 at Ex. A; Pet. App. 4.

During the course of the lease, Cerasani took the vehicle to an authorized Honda dealership for repairs. R. 1:86 at ¶¶ 14-15. She complained that the steering and suspension rattled and squeaked, the steering wheel was off-center and vibrated, the speakers had static, a door panel was noisy, and a trunk latch was broken. Id. ¶ 18. Honda honored the warranty and attempted to fix the vehicle, but Cerasani was dissatis fied with the repairs. Id. ¶¶ 17-18.

Cerasani sued Honda for breach of written warranty and implied warranty under the Magnuson Moss Act claiming that she suffered aggravation and inconvenience and loss of use of the vehicle for several days during the repairs. R. 1:86 ¶¶ 23-24. Further, Cerasani asserted that she ultimately "sold" the leased vehicle to mitigate her damages. <u>Id.</u> ¶ 25. As damages, she sought the return of all payments she made toward the lease, diminution in value, and attorney's fees. R. 1:86 at ¶¶ 18, 25, 27-37, 46.

Honda moved to dismiss, asserting that a lessee could not state a claim under the Magnuson-Moss Act because the Act applies to sold goods, not leased goods. R. 1:33, 135. The trial court determined that, as a matter of law, the Act's protections for written warranties do not apply to leased vehicles and therefore granted Honda's motion.³ R. 2:235-36.

The Second District reversed the dismissal of Cerasani's written warranty Magnuson-Moss Act claim, holding that the Act applies to her claim under two theories. First, the court held that because Cerasani alleged that prior to her lease, the dealership, Crown Honda, sold the vehicle to "Honda Leasing" who then leased the vehicle to Plaintiff, this constituted a sale for purposes of the Act. Furthermore, the court held that regardless of whether such a sale occurred, the allegation that Cerasani was able to enforce that warranty by taking the vehicle to the dealership for repairs was sufficient to create a cause of action under the Act. In reaching this result, the Second District certified conflict with the First District's decision in <u>Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc.</u>, 526 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), to the extent <u>Sellers</u> concluded that the Act does not apply to lease transactions. This proceeding follows.

³ Honda also argued, and the trial court agreed, that Cerasani had no implied warranty claim because no privity existed between her and Honda. R2:236-37. The Second District affirmed that point, which is not before this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act creates a limited remedy to enforce specific types of warranties in specific circumstances. The First District's decision in <u>Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc.</u>, 526 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), correctly interpreted the Act to apply to goods covered by a written warranty only where those goods have first been sold at retail. That decision was consistent with the Act's text and purpose of permitting purchasers of consumer products to enforce manufacturers' warranties and related service agreements.

The decision below, on the other hand, departs from the Act's text and purpose. The Second District applied the Act to a leased vehicle. More specifically, the Second District held that a sale between a dealership and a financing company satisfies the Act's definition of a "written warranty" made "in connection with the sale," even though that sale did not trigger Honda's New Vehicle Warranty. The Second District further held that anyone who has obtained a repair pursuant to the New Vehicle Warranty is a consumer under the Act and on that basis alone can bring a claim.

Such interpretations are entirely unmoored from the Act Congress adopted. The Act's plain language, supported by its legislative history, confirms that the Act applies only to sold goods, not leased goods, that sales require warranties to have been made in return for the sale, and that lessees may not use the Act to enforce warranties that do not qualify as "written warranties" under the Act.

This Court should approve <u>Sellers</u> and reverse the decision below. Lessees such as Cerasani should avail themselves of remedies, such as Florida's Lemon Law, that were created to enforce warranties for leased items. <u>See generally</u> § 681.104, Fla. Stat. The Act does not apply to the automobile she leased.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review by this Court. <u>Daniels v. Florida Dep't of Health</u>, 898 So. 2d 61, 64 (Fla. 2005). Likewise, the interpretation of a legal agreement, such as a lease, is also a question of law that is reviewed de novo. <u>D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice</u>, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla.2003) (holding de novo review applies to pure questions of law); <u>USA Indep.</u> <u>Mobilehome Sales, Inc. v. City of Lake City</u>, 908 So. 2d 1151, 1154 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) (holding interpretation of contract is pure question of law reviewed de novo).

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT ERRED IN CONCLUDING, CONTRARY TO <u>SELLERS</u>, THAT THE MAGNUSON-MOSS ACT APPLIES TO LEASED GOODS.

Honda argued below that the Magnuson-Moss Act does not apply to leased goods, including automobiles and the trial court agreed. The First District's

5

decision in <u>Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc.</u>, 526 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), directly supports this conclusion, but the Second District held that the Act applies to Cerasani's leased vehicle. On the most basic level, the Second District erred because the Act simply does not apply to leased goods.⁴

The starting point for interpreting a statute is the text of the statute. <u>Barnhart</u> v. <u>Sigmon Coal Co., Inc.</u>, 534 U.S. 438, 450 (2002); <u>see also Florida Dep't of</u> <u>Revenue v. New Sea Escape Cruises, Ltd.</u>, 894 So. 2d 594, 957 (Fla. 2005). The first step "is to determine whether the language at issue has a plain and unambiguous meaning with regard to the particular dispute in the case." <u>Barnhart</u>, 534 U.S. at 450 (quoting <u>Robinson v. Shell Oil Co.</u>, 519 U.S. 337, 340 (1997)). The inquiry ceases "if the statutory language is unambiguous and 'the statutory scheme is coherent and consistent.' <u>Id.</u> Only where a statute's text does not have a plain and unambiguous meaning may a court turn to the statute's legislative history for assistance in determining the congressional intent behind an act. <u>See Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain</u>, 503 U.S 249, 253-54 (1992); <u>Burlington Northern R. Co. v. Oklahoma Tax Comm'n</u>, 481 U.S. 454, 461 (1987).

⁴ The Second District recently reached the same erroneous conclusion in two other cases, as did the Third District in another case. <u>See Brophy v.</u> <u>DaimlerChrysler Corp.</u>, Case No. 2D04-1466 (Fla. 2d DCA Oct. 21, 2005); <u>O'Connor v. BMW of N. Am., LLC</u>, 905 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); <u>Mesa v.</u> <u>BMW of N. Am., LLC</u>, 904 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005).

Here, the plain and unambiguous language of the statute supports the conclusion that the Act does not apply to a lease transaction. But even if the Court goes beyond the statute to look at legislative history, the conclusion is the same. The Magnuson-Moss Act only applies to goods that are sold.

A. THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE ACT'S TEXT IS THAT IT APPLIES ONLY TO SOLD GOODS.

1. The Elements of a Magnuson Moss Claim

15 U.S.C. section 2310(d)(1) sets forth the private remedies available under the Magnuson-Moss Act and defines the cause of action on which Cerasani purports to base her claim:

> [A] <u>consumer</u> who is damaged by the failure of a <u>supplier</u>, warrantor, or <u>service contractor</u> to comply with <u>any obligation</u> <u>under this chapter</u>, or under a <u>written warranty</u>, <u>implied</u> <u>warranty</u>, or <u>service contract</u>, may bring suit for damages and other legal and equitable relief

15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(1) (emphasis added). As this provision demonstrates, a claim under the Act must satisfy three principal elements, each of which is defined by the Act. First, the plaintiff must be a consumer. Second, the defendant must be a supplier, warrantor, or service contractor. Third, the defendant must have failed to comply with the obligations set forth by the Act or by a written warranty, implied warranty, or service contract. Each of these terms is specifically defined by the Act -- thus, in the House Report accompanying the Act, Congress stressed that the specific definitions of terms included in 15 U.S.C. section 2301 "are important to understanding [the Act]." H.R. REP. NO. 93-1107 (1974), reprinted in 1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 7702, 7716.

Only the first and third elements are relevant to the issues in this case.

Consumer: The Act defines three categories of "consumers." They are:

[1] a buyer (other than for purposes of resale) of any consumer product, [2] any person to whom such product is transferred during the duration of an implied or written warranty (or service contract) applicable to the product, and [3] any other person who is entitled by the terms of such warranty (or service contract) or under applicable State law to enforce against the warrantor (or service contractor) the obligations of the warranty (or service contract).

15 U.S.C. § 2301(3) (numbering added). The three types of consumers identified in this definition are commonly referred to in the case law as category one, category two, and category three consumers.

A category one consumer is a purchaser of consumer goods other than for purposes of resale. There is no longer a dispute in this case that Cerasani was not a buyer and thus is not a category one consumer. Cerasani argues, and the Second District agreed, that she is a category two and a category three consumer.

A category two consumer is a person to whom the goods are transferred while the warranty is in effect. Thus, for example, a person who buys or otherwise obtains a used car while its warranty is still in effect is a category two consumer. A manufacturer's five-year warranty on a consumer good is still enforceable by a second-hand buyer if the original purchaser sells the item in less than the five-year period. Subsequent owners are category two consumers.

A category three consumer is a person authorized by the terms of a written warranty or service contract or under state law to enforce the warranty or service contract. Thus, if a written warranty or service contract expressly indicates that it may be enforced by anyone in possession of a consumer good, then the person in possession would be a category three consumer. Also, under Florida's version of the Uniform Commercial Code, the legislature expressly made warranties for <u>sold</u> goods enforceable by an array of persons in addition to the purchaser. § 672.318, Fla. Stat.⁵ Persons who come within this broad provision with respect to a written warranty would be category three consumers under the Magnuson-Moss Act because they are authorized by state law to enforce the warranty.

Cerasani argued below that the Act's three-pronged definition of "consumer" must have been intended to apply to different categories of persons and thus it had to contemplate more than a buyer as set forth in category one. That

§ 672.318, Fla. Stat.

⁵ That statute provides:

A seller's warranty whether express or implied extends to any natural person who is in the family or household of his or her buyer, who is a guest in his or her home or who is an employee, servant or agent of his or her buyer if it is reasonable to expect that such person may use, consume or be affected by the goods and who is injured in person by breach of the warranty.

is correct, but as set forth above, each category of consumer does encompass different persons.

Written Warranty, Implied Warranty, and Service Contract: As to the

third element, the Act defines a "written warranty," an "implied warranty," and a "service contract." Only the term "written warranty" is at issue here.

In the context of the Magnuson-Moss Act, "written warranty" is a term of art with a precise meaning that differs from the lay notion of a warranty. A "written warranty" is defined by the Act as:

(A) any written affirmation of fact or written promise <u>made in</u> <u>connection with the sale of a consumer product by a supplier to a</u> <u>buyer</u> which relates to the nature of the material or workmanship and affirms or promises that such material or workmanship is defect free or will meet a specified level of performance over a specified period of time, or

(B) any undertaking in writing <u>in connection with the sale by a</u> <u>supplier of a consumer product</u> to refund, repair, replace, or take other remedial action with respect to such product in the event that such product fails to meet the specifications set forth in the undertaking,

which written affirmation, promise, or undertaking becomes part of <u>the basis of the bargain between a supplier and a buyer</u> for purposes other than resale of such product.

15 U.S.C. §2301(6) (emphasis added). As the Act's text makes clear, the final clause applies to both subsections (A) and (B) and confirms that, for a written document to qualify as a "written warranty," the specific product must have been

sold by a supplier to a buyer (a term not defined in the Act) and the warranty must have been part of the basis of the bargain between those two persons.

2. Under These Definitions, The Act Applies To Written Warranties Covering Sold Goods, Not Leased Goods

The Act's definitions for "consumer" and "written warranty" confirm that, with respect to written warranties, the Act applies only to consumer goods that are first sold to a buyer for purposes other than resale and where a written affirmation, promise, or undertaking is part of the basis of that sale. Other conditions apply as well, as will be discussed later, but these three requirements are fundamental to all private claims involving written warranties.

It necessarily follows, then, that the Magnuson-Moss Act does not cover any promise, affirmation, or undertaking made in connection with only <u>leased</u> goods. Leased goods are, by definition, not sold. Where no initial sale has occurred in which a qualifying warranty was part of the basis of the bargain, no written warranty exists as the Act defines that term.

That the Act applies only in the case of sold goods, not leased goods, has been well supported by case law -- at least until the last few years. One of the earliest Magnuson-Moss Act cases involving leased automobiles was the First District's decision in <u>Sellers</u>. There, a plaintiff leased her vehicle from a dealer and, subsequently, the dealer assigned its interests in the lease to a third party. The plaintiff later sued under Florida's version of Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC"), which governs sales, and under the Magnuson-Moss Act, attempting to revoke her acceptance of the vehicle based on what she asserted were defects in the car. The plaintiff argued that her lease should be construed as a sale, but the trial court granted the defendant's motion for summary judgment, holding that both Article 2 and the Act apply only in the context of sales, not leases.

The First District affirmed. Sellers, 526 So. 2d at 150-51, 156. The court concluded that the plaintiff's lease could not be characterized as a sale under the UCC or the Magnuson-Moss Act because it bore the characteristics of a lease, not a sale. Id. at 150-51, 156. The First District also rejected the plaintiff's additional argument that, even if her lease transaction could not be treated as a sale, she nonetheless qualified as a category three consumer who could bring a claim under the Act. On this issue, the court held that the Act requires "an initial sale to a buyer in which warranties are made by the seller, and as such, it does not apply to a pure lease of automobiles or other consumer goods unless the lease bears a significant relationship to an actual purchase and sale." Id. at 156. The court determined that no such sale had taken place, and therefore the plaintiff had no claim under the Magnuson-Moss Act. The court added that, while a case could be made for applying the Act to lease transactions, such would amount to "judicial legislation" and was therefore "a matter for legislative decision." Id.

In the decades following the Act's adoption, numerous courts correctly held that the Act applied only to goods that were sold, not goods that were leased. <u>See,</u> <u>e.g., DiCintio v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.</u>, 768 N.E.2d 1121, 1125 (N.Y. 2002); <u>D.L.</u> <u>Lee & Sons, Inc. v. ADT Sec. Sys., Mid-South, Inc.</u>, 916 F. Supp. 1571, 1580-82 (S.D. Ga. 1995); <u>Alpiser v. Eagle Pontiac-GMC-Isuzu, Inc.</u>, 389 S.E.2d 293, 295 (N.C. Ct. App. 1990); <u>Corral v. Rollins Protective Services Co.</u>, 240 Kan. 678, 732 P.2d 1260, 1267 (1987).

Likewise, numerous treatises have concluded that the Act applies only in the case of sales and not to leased goods. See, e.g., Milton R. Schroeder, Private Actions Under the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 66 Cal. L. Rev. 1, 11 (1978) ("The definitions of written and implied warranties still require a sale between a supplier and a buyer. Thus, this portion of the definition of 'consumer' must be viewed as referring to transferees after an initial sale of the product. There must be an initial buyer who buys 'for purposes other than resale' of the product."); Paul A. Lester, The Warranty Act: The Courts Begin to Talk, 16 UCC L.J. 119, 127 (1983) (noting that the Act "applies only to written warranties offered in conjunction with the sale of consumer products and does not cover lease, bailment, or other transactions involving consumer products"); Clark and Smith, The Law of Product Warranties, ¶ 15.08 [1986 Supp.], quoted with approval in Corral v. Rollins Protective Servs. Co., 732 P.2d 1260, 1267 (Kan. 1987) ("[T]he Act does not apply to leases of consumer products since a 'written warranty' under the Act only arises in connection with the 'sale' of a consumer product . . . Thus, the Act literally covers only warranties on a consumer product "sold" to a consumer.").

B. THE ACT'S LEGISLATIVE HISTORY SHOWS THE ACT APPLIES ONLY TO SOLD GOODS.

As discussed above, the Act's text is clear and unambiguous and thus there is no need to look to legislative history to interpret the Act. But even if the Court were to do so, as explained below, that history simply confirms that the Act was intended to apply to sold goods and not leased goods. Congress rejected specific efforts to expand the Act to include leases and was well aware of the prevalence of automobile leases at the time of the Act's adoption. Also, the Act's definitions of "consumer" and "written warranty" were crafted to be consistent with the relaxed privity requirements states had adopted for warranty enforcement under the UCC chapter on sales of goods and to ensure that the Act is triggered by such sales. Finally, unlike states such as Florida that have amended their Lemon Laws to include remedies for automobile leases where manufacturers' warranties are not honored, Congress has never amended the Magnuson-Moss Act to include leases, despite decades of jurisprudence holding the Act inapplicable to them.

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