IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR  
COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner,

**Fla. S. Ct. No. SC05-1907**

DCA No. 2D04-2719

Trial Ct. No.03-6470-CI-21

v.

JENNIFER CERASANI,

Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

---

On Review from the  
Second District Court of Appeal  
State of Florida

**Alex D. Weisberg, Esquire**

Fla. Bar No. 0566551

**Theodore F. Greene III, Esquire**

Fla. Bar No. 0502634

Krohn & Moss, Ltd.

Sunrise Professional Center

5975 W. Sunrise Blvd., Suite 215

Sunrise, FL 33313

Phone: (954) 792-4336 ext. 227

Counsel for the Respondent

## I.

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

### **IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Honda seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court based on the erroneous premise that there is currently a conflict among the District

---

<sup>67</sup> Although Honda correctly states the standard of review as *de novo*, it attempts to confuse the issues by incorrectly suggesting that this case involves nothing more than an issue of contract interpretation – a position Honda did not take below, where it argued that the language of the federal statute provided rights only to “buyers” of consumer goods not lessees. (See, e.g., Honda’s Answer Brief to the District Court at pages 6-7.)

Courts of this State about whether a vehicle lessee qualifies as a consumer able to enforce under the federal Warranty Act. There is not as yet, however, a conflict among the district courts of this State. The First DCA held in Seller's v. Frank Griffin Volkswagen that a vehicle lessee may qualify as a category one consumer (a "buyer") under the federal Act if the transaction looks enough like a sale to be treated as one. The Sellers court established a 10-point test to use in determining whether the automobile lease at issue is sufficiently akin to a sale as to fairly be treated as such. The Sellers court expressly stated that a lessee *may* qualify as a consumer "buyer" under the federal Act if enough of those 10 factors are satisfied. To the extent that the Sellers court analyzed the issue, it was correct. In fact, courts around the country have traditionally held that a lease may be treated as a sale for UCC purposes if the transaction looks enough like a sale to warrant being treated that way. The lease transaction at issue here is sufficiently akin to a sale that even within the much more limited context of the Sellers analysis, the Plaintiff qualifies as a consumer "buyer" able to enforce under the federal Act.

Both the Second DCA and the Third DCA were asked to analyze the issue within a much fuller and more developed context than was the Sellers court. While the Sellers court was asked whether a vehicle lessee can qualify as a category one consumer "buyer" (in answer to which the First DCA said yes), both the Second and Third DCA's were asked whether a vehicle lessee qualifies as either a category

one consumer (buyer), a category two consumer (someone to whom the property was transferred during the duration of a written warranty) or a category three consumer (someone entitled by either the warranty or by State law to enforce the warranty). Neither the Second DCA nor the Third DCA in any way expressly contradicted the First DCA's holding that a lessee may, under certain circumstances, qualify as a "buyer" under the federal Act. In fact, neither district court appears to have considered the issue within the more limited context of a category one consumer – opting instead to find the answer within the Act's much broader definitions of category two and category three consumers. In O'Connor v. BMW, Cerasani v. Honda, and Brophy v. DaimlerChrysler, the Second DCA expressly held that within the facts alleged in this case a vehicle lessee qualifies as both a category two consumer (someone to whom the property was transferred during the duration of a written warranty) and a category three consumer (someone entitled by either the warranty or by State law to enforce the warranty). In Mesa v. BMW, the Third DCA expressly reached the identical holding. Not only are the Second and Third DCA's holdings internally consistent with the plain language of the federal Warranty Act, but they are in complete accord with the overwhelming majority of courts to have analyzed the issues presented here. With only one real exception – the New York case Honda relies on – every court to analyze the issues

involved in this case has done so in the same manner, and have reached the same holdings that Florida's Second and Third DCA's have.

Not only does the Plaintiff qualify as a category one consumer under the First DCA's more limited analysis, she clearly qualifies as a both a category two and a category three consumer under the Second and Third DCA's fuller analysis. The Plaintiff is a consumer able to enforce under the Act, and Honda's written warranty is a written warranty as defined by the federal Act. The analysis applied by Florida's Second and Third DCA's represents the mainstream analysis applied by both federal and State courts. The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act creates a cause of action for a supplier, warrantor, or service contractor's breach of warranty on certain consumer goods, including the vehicle at issue here. That cause of action applies whether the consumer leases or purchases the good. The Plaintiff's well-pled allegations wed Honda to this lawsuit as surely and securely as any justice of the peace ever wed two young people in love.

## **IX. ARGUMENT ON THE MERITS.**

### **1. Florida's district courts recognize that Magnuson-Moss applies to vehicle leases as well as purchases.**

Each of Florida's three district courts to consider the issues in this appeal has expressly held that the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act applies to vehicle leases as well as purchases. The First DCA was asked whether a vehicle lessee qualifies as a category one consumer "buyer," and the court expressly stated that the answer to

that question is yes – a lessee may, under certain circumstances, qualify as a category one consumer. The facts of this case qualify the Plaintiff as a category one consumer under the First DCA’s analysis. The Second DCA was asked (in this case as well as in O’Connor v. BMW and Brophy v. DaimlerChrysler), whether a vehicle lessee qualifies as either a category one consumer (a buyer), a category two consumer (a person to whom a consumer good was transferred during the duration of a written warranty) or a category three consumer (a person entitled by the warranty itself or by State law to enforce the warranty). The Second DCA didn’t say whether a lessee qualifies as a buyer. Instead, the court held – three times last year – that a vehicle lessee qualifies as a category two and a category three consumer. See O’Connor v. BMW, 905 So.2d 235 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA June 22, 2005); Cerasani v. Honda, 916 So.2d 843 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA August 10, 2005); and Brophy v. DaimlerChrysler, 2005 WL 2693308 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA October 21, 2005). The Third DCA reached the very same holding in Mesa v. BMW, 904 So.2d 450 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA May 4, 2005), *rehearing denied* June 22, 2005. The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act applies to leases as well as purchases of consumer goods, and Florida’s courts have correctly recognized that fact. Whether this case is analyzed within the narrow context of the First DCA’s more limited analysis, or with the broader context of the Second and Third DCA’s fuller analysis, the Plaintiff in this case fits squarely within the protections afforded by the federal Warranty Act.

**A. The Plaintiff is a category one consumer under the Sellers analysis.**

In Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc.,<sup>68</sup> the First DCA expressly recognized that a lessee may qualify as a buyer under both the UCC and the federal Warranty Act where the lease is sufficiently akin to a sale to be fairly treated as such.<sup>69</sup> The court explained that

Since Florida recognizes a strong public policy of liberally construing the provisions of the UCC to provide meaningful remedies to purchasers of defective new cars, we consider the construction of section 672.608 in the context of the transaction before us to determine whether the remedy provided under that section may be made available to [the plaintiff here]. Sellers at 150.

The court further explained that “Florida courts have observed this directive in holding that leases of equipment may be ‘transactions in goods’ within the definition [of] section 372.101 for the purpose of applying section 672.302.” Sellers at 151. The court then identified 10 factors to be used in determining whether a lease may fairly be treated as the equivalent of a sale,<sup>70</sup> and declared that “much the same analysis is applicable in determining whether [a lease] is a consumer transaction which constitutes a ‘sale’ under the Magnuson-Moss Act.”<sup>71</sup> The majority of those 10 factors identified by the Sellers Court as applicable in

---

<sup>68</sup> Sellers v. Frank Griffin AMC Jeep, Inc., 526 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1988).

<sup>69</sup> See footnote 60.

<sup>70</sup> Id.

<sup>71</sup> Id. at 156. See also Mesa v. BMW at 454 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2005) recognizing the 10-factor test established by the Sellers court.

determining whether a particular lease transaction should be treated as a sale weigh heavily in favor of the Plaintiff in this case.<sup>72</sup>

First, the value of rental payments made by the Plaintiff is comparable to the value of the vehicle amortized over the term of the lease. The vehicle has an agreed upon initial value of \$15,772.<sup>73</sup> The lease is for a period of thirty six months,<sup>74</sup> and payments over that period total about \$7,710.<sup>75</sup> If the vehicle were purchased initially (instead of leased) and financed over the course of a standard purchase contract, monthly payments would be only somewhat higher than the monthly lease payment.<sup>76</sup>

Second, the Plaintiff has the option to purchase the vehicle at the end of the lease term for the remaining residual value of the vehicle.<sup>77</sup> Not only are payments

---

<sup>72</sup> The fact is that the modern automobile lease, designed as it is to replicate all of the essential ownership aspects of a traditional purchase, typically creates a factual situation in which the lease transaction is so similar to a sale as to be largely indistinguishable from a legal and analytical standpoint. The modern automobile lease is substantially like a traditional sale in all relevant respects such that it may generally be treated in a similar manner.

<sup>73</sup> Lease Agreement at “My Monthly Payment/Single Payment. . . .” The Lease expressly provides that “The agreed upon value of the vehicle [is] \$15,772.68.”

<sup>74</sup> Lease Agreement at number of “Lease Payments” (36 + initial payment).

<sup>75</sup> Lease Agreement at “My Monthly Payment/Single Payment. . . .” (“Base Monthly/Single Payment” plus “Monthly Sales/Use Tax” multiplied by the number of lease payments, plus the initial payment).

<sup>76</sup> Lease Agreement at “My Monthly Payment/Single Payment. . . .” (“Base Monthly/Single Payment” plus “Monthly Sales/Use Tax” establishes the monthly payments due under the terms of the Lease Agreement.

<sup>77</sup> Lease Agreement at “PURCHASE OPTION AT END OF LEASE TERM” expressly provides, “I have an option to purchase the vehicle AS-IS, WHERE-IS at

over the life of the lease equivalent to the value of the vehicle amortized over that same period, but the residual value at the end of the lease period is used to calculate the vehicle's purchase price.<sup>78</sup> The lessee (the Plaintiff in this action) has a contractual option to purchase the vehicle at the end of the lease period – a right of first refusal as it were. The Lessor doesn't want the vehicle back, and in fact actively encourages the lessee to just continue driving the vehicle at the end of the lease term – in an as-is, where-is condition.

Third, the Plaintiff is responsible for all normal incidents of ownership such as insurance for the vehicle, normal service and maintenance, replacement of parts, etc.<sup>79</sup> The Lessor doesn't bear those incidents of ownership – the Plaintiff does.

Fourth, the Plaintiff bears the risk of damage or loss. If the vehicle is in an accident, the Plaintiff's insurance covers the accident damage. In fact, the lease *requires* the Plaintiff to insure the vehicle.<sup>80</sup> The Plaintiff bears the expense of any insurance deductible, and is responsible for ensuring the vehicle is in good repair and is drivable. The Plaintiff – not the lessor – bears the risk of loss due to theft.

Fifth, the vehicle was made available through a dealership that normally

---

the end of the Lease Term for [the residual value of the vehicle], plus any [additional] required taxes and fees.”

<sup>78</sup> Lease Agreement, *id*; see also Lease Agreement at “My Monthly Payment/Single Payment. . . .” (“Residual Value”).

<sup>79</sup> See, for example, Lease Agreement at “VEHICLE INSURANCE.”

<sup>80</sup> *Id.*

only sells automobiles.<sup>81</sup> The Seller is an authorized Honda retail sales dealership, and doesn't normally act primarily as a financing agency.

Sixth, the Plaintiff pays monthly sales and use taxes on the vehicle at issue in this transaction. In fact, over the life of the lease, the Plaintiff pays over \$800 in sales and use taxes on the vehicle.<sup>82</sup>

Seventh, the Plaintiff paid the license and registration fees on the vehicle. At the time of signing, the Plaintiff paid a \$90 initial registration fee and a \$73 motor vehicle surcharge fee, as well as the initial installment on the monthly sales and use taxes due on the vehicle.<sup>83</sup>

Eighth, the lease agreement permits the lessor to repossess the vehicle and grants remedies similar to those of a lender exercising a purchase money security interest in the vehicle.

Ninth, the Plaintiff was required to make a down payment in order to obtain the vehicle. The Plaintiff paid several hundred dollars at signing<sup>84</sup> – equal to, if not higher than, the down payment typically required in the modern consumer sales transaction thanks to the creative financing applied by most lenders nowadays.

---

<sup>81</sup> Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 2-10.

<sup>82</sup> Lease Agreement at "Estimated Fees and Taxes During Lease Term." ("Lessor estimates this amount to be \$823.76.")

<sup>83</sup> Lease Agreement at "Itemization of Amount Due at Lease Signing."

<sup>84</sup> Id.

Sellers stands for the proposition that leases may be treated as sales for UCC and Magnuson-Moss purposes where the lease is sufficiently akin to a sale to warrant such treatment. The lease at issue here bears those “incidents of ownership” required by Sellers to be treated as the equivalent of a sale. In fact, the reality is that in today’s world of consumer automobile transactions, a modern automobile lease like the one at issue here conveys all of the legally relevant possessory equivalents of actual ownership and is marketed as the equivalent in all material respects to actual purchase. The lease at issue here carried with it all of the attributes of an installment sales contract, and qualifies the Plaintiff as a consumer even within the limited context of the Sellers court’s “buyer” analysis. The Sellers analysis is not inconsistent with Florida’s other district courts, which have uniformly held that whether or not a vehicle lessee qualifies as a category one “buyer” a lessee does qualify – at least under the facts alleged here – as either a category two or category three consumer.<sup>85</sup> In fact, at least one appellate court considering the issues raised here has concluded that a vehicle lessee may well qualify as a category one, category two, *and* category three consumer under the Warranty Act<sup>86</sup> – a holding entirely consistent with all of Florida’s District Courts.

---

<sup>85</sup> See Mesa v. BMW, O’Connor v. BMW, Cerasani v. Honda, and Brophy v. DaimlerChrysler discussed *infra*.

<sup>86</sup> See Dekelaita v. Nissan Motor Corporation, 799 N.E.2d 367, 371 & 374 (Ill. App. 2003), *cert. denied*, discussed in detail *infra*.

**B. The Plaintiff is both a category two and a category three consumer under the Mesa , O'Connor, Cerasani, and Brophy analysis.**

Although Sellers held that a lessee *may* qualify as a category one consumer “buyer” under certain conditions, the Sellers court wasn’t asked to analyze the issue as broadly as the Second and Third Districts were. The Mesa, O'Connor, Cerasani, and Brophy courts went through a much more developed analysis of the plain language of the federal statute and concluded that whether or not a vehicle lessee qualifies as a category one consumer, a lessee does qualify – at least under the facts pled in this case – as both a category two consumer and a category three consumer. Because a plaintiff need only satisfy one of the Warranty Act’s three definitions in order to qualify as a consumer entitled to bring suit under the Act, it isn’t necessary to analyze the issue solely within the context of a “buyer.”

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